IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

COLE DUANE ENGELSON

Appellant,

Electronically Filed Jul 23 2021 05:47 p.m. Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme Court

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA

Respondent.

Docket No. 82691

Appeal From A Judgment of Conviction (Jury Trial) Fifth Judicial District Court The Honorable Robert Lane, District JudgeDistrict Court No. CR9226

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF

Ronni Boskovich State Bar #14484 Daniel Martinez State Bar #12035 3190 S. Hwy 160 Suite H Pahrump, NV 89048 (702) 583-4041 Attorneys for Cole Engelson

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE OF APPELLANT'S COUNSEL, RONNI N. BOSKOVICH, ESQ.

I. JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction, based on a jury verdict, of one count of first degree murder. 21 App. 2116. The judgment of conviction was filed on March 12, 2021. 22 App. 2175. A timely notice of appeal was filed on March 26, 2021. 22 App. 2178. This Court has jurisdiction under NRS 177.015.

II. <u>ROUTING STATEMENT</u>

This is an appeal from a judgment of conviction based on a jury verdict for first degree murder with a sentence of life in prison without the possibility of parole. The issues in this appeal are of a constitutional dimension and present crucial issues regarding jury venire, disqualification of a District Attorney's Office, improper admission of evidence and testimony, and improper considerations at the time of sentencing. This appeal challenges more than the sentence imposed and the sufficiency of evidence. This case should be retained by the Nevada Supreme Court. NRAP 17(a)(12). This appeal is not within the case categories presumptively assigned to the Court of Appeals. NRAP 17(b).

III. STATEMENT OF ISSUES

- A. Whether the District Court Deprived Cole of a Fair Trial by Improper Admission of Prior Bad Acts.
- B. Whether the District Court Deprived Cole of a Fair Trial by Denying His Motion to Suppress.

1

- C. Whether the District Court Deprived Cole of a Fair Trial by Denying His Motion to Disqualify the Nye County District Attorney's Office.
- D. Whether the District Court Deprived Cole of a Fair Trial by Denying His Motion to Limit Autopsy Photographs.
- E. Whether the District Court Deprived Cole of a Fair Trial by Improper Admission of Jail Phone Calls.
- F. Whether the District Court Deprived Cole of a Fair Trial by Improper Admission of the Deposition of Christopher Pullen.
- G. Whether There is Insufficient Evidence to Support the First Degree
 Murder Conviction
- H. Whether the District Court Considered Improper Testimony or Evidence at the Time of Sentencing.
- I. Whether the Sentence of Life Without the Possibility of Parole is a Violation of the 8th Amendment, Cruel and Unusual Punishment, Clause of the Constitution.
- J. Whether Cumulative Error Warrants Reversal.

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND PROCEDURAL HISTORY

On February 7, 2019, the State charged Cole Engelson by way of amended information with one count of first degree murder. (Cole waived his preliminary hearing to sign a guilty plea agreement, but later changed his mind.) 1 App. 5. Cole pleaded not guilty to the charge. 6 App. 818.

Petrocelli and motion hearings were held prior to, and during, the trial. 4 App. 529, 5 App. 640, 3 App. 455, 13 App. 1380, 16 App. 1630. Arguments on Cole's Motion to Disqualify the Nye County District Attorney's Office were held on October 29, 2020. 6 App. 772. Issues related to those motions are discussed below. Trial began on November 4, 2020. 6 App. 794. The jury returned a verdict of guilty on the sole count on November 16, 2020. 21 App. 2116. Sentencing occurred on February 1, 2021, and March 8, 2021. 21 App. 2118, 22 App. 2133. The district court sentenced Cole to life in prison without the possibility of parole. 22 App. 2175.

V. <u>STATEMENT OF FACTS</u>

Cole Engelson and Victoria Schlick met many years ago, lost touch for several years but then rekindled their relationship sometime around September of 2016. 10 App. 1139. They lived separately in Las Vegas, Nevada, until May 1, 2017, when they moved to 5320 East Manse Road in Pahrump, Nevada together. 10 App. 1141. Cole's only son, also named Cole (hereinafter "Little Cole"), and two of Victoria's kids, Dwight Camp and Yessenia Camp, moved to Pahrump with them. *Id*. Victoria also had an older daughter, Nickole Robinson, who would visit every other weekend. *Id*.

Throughout their relationship, it was well known and documented that Cole was an alcoholic. 10 App. 1149. He even went so far as to take Antabuse, a drug that causes a person to become ill and vomit if they consume any alcohol. Id. However, Cole knew how long it took for the effects of the drug to wear off, and every now and then Cole would stop taking it at certain times so he could drink on special occasions. 10 App. 1150-52. One such special occasion was the Fourth of July in 2017. 9 App. 1080. When he stopped taking Antabuse prior to the Fourth of July festivities, he never took it again. *Id*.

Around 6:00 am on the morning of July 15, 2017, Cole returned home from work in Las Vegas. 11 App. 1180. He, Victoria, Nickole, Little Cole, and Yessenia went out for breakfast at the Pahrump Nugget. 11 App. 1182. Before breakfast, Victoria's family friend Steve Kafton picked Dwight up to spend the day with him. 11 App. 1180. After breakfast, they all went to Goodwill, and then returned home. 11 App. 1184. Little Cole then left with his grandmother to go camping. 11 App. 1186. Victoria and Nickole made plans to have a mother-daughter day; they were going to have lunch and get their nails done. 11 App. 1184-86. Yessenia was going to stay home with Cole because she had been under the weather. 11 App. 1187.

While they were home, Cole started sneaking drinks. 15 App. 1538. His rationale was that he wanted a nightcap to help him sleep when the girls left for their mother-daughter date, since Cole had to drive back to Las Vegas for work that

evening. 15 App. 1539. He filled a pint glass with half vodka and half tap water several times, losing count of his drinks. *Id*. Victoria confronted Cole about drinking, but he denied having consumed any alcohol. 11 App. 1240.

In the early afternoon, Victoria and Nickole left the house for their day together. 11 App. 1188. As they did, three-year-old Yessenia ran out of the house crying and asking to go with them, but Victoria told her she had to stay home. 11 App. 1187. Victoria and Nickole then went to lunch at Subway, grabbed some ice cream at Sonic, and proceeded to their nail appointment. 11 App. 1188.

Somewhere around 5:30pm, Steve dropped Dwight back off at the house. 11 App. 1189. He talked to his mom on the phone a few times, saw that Cole and Yessenia were sleeping in the master bedroom, and sat playing video games for a while. Just before 7:00pm, Cole called Victoria to tell her that something was wrong with Yessenia, and she needed to come home immediately. 11 App. 1197. As Victoria raced home, she received another phone call from Cole, where Cole said he believed Yessenia was dead. 10 App. 1155. Victoria arrived home, ran inside, and found Yessenia on the bed, wet, naked, and covered in bruises. 10 App. 1173. She began to perform CPR, and Nickole and Dwight called 911. *Id*. Pahrump Valley Fire and Rescue arrived at the Manse Road address. 12 App. 1321. They too noticed all the bruising on Yessenia, and Victoria told them that Cole killed her. 12 App. 1327, 13 App. 1371. Yessenia was later pronounced dead at Desert View Hospital. 18 App.1849.

Dr. Leonardo Roquero performed an autopsy on Yessenia and sent her eyes and brain to specialists to be examined. 16 App. 1646. Yessenia sustained multiple blunt force injuries, abrasions and contusions to her head, neck, torso, and extremities, subcutaneous hemorrhages in multiple areas of her brain, a hemorrhage on the surface of her skull, a focal epidural hemorrhage, as well as subdural and subarachnoid hemorrhaging of the brain, hemorrhaging of the cervical spinal nerve root, and a fractured skull. 16 App. 1654-1730. Additionally, Yessenia suffered retinal and optic nerve sheath hemorrhages and focal orbital hemorrhaging of the eyes. *Id.* The skull fracture was the type of injury caused when someone gets hit by a car or falls off a building; it requires a tremendous amount of force. 17 App. 1763. The cause of death was determined to be multiple blunt force trauma, and the manner of death was determined to be homicide. 16 App. 1648.

Deputies and Detectives from the Nye County Sheriff's Office responded to the Manse Road address shortly after Pahrump Valley Fire and Rescue. 7 App. 923; 9 App. 1039. They made contact with Cole and recognized through their training and experience that he was intoxicated. 9 App. 1047. He had an unknown odor of alcoholic beverage emitting from his person when he spoke; his eyes were glossy; and when he walked, he walked unsteadily. *Id*. Prior to *Miranda* warnings being administered, Detective Alexandra Fernandes began questioning Cole and asked to see the house. 9 App. 1045. Cole consented and answered her questions to the best of his ability, as he did not remember much. 9 App. 1047-53. Detective Fernandes told Cole that what he did remember, Yessenia going limp while he was drying her post-shower on the bathroom counter, did not make sense because there were no wet footprints on the counter. 9 App. 1050. Cole continued speaking with Detective Fernandes, going so far as to go through his cell phone attempting to piece together a timeline of what happened. 9 App. 1061.

Eventually, Cole was placed in handcuffs and read his *Miranda* rights. 9 App. 1077. He waived those rights, and upon learning that Yessenia had died, he began to sob. 9 App. 1078. He reiterated that he could not remember and did not know what happened, but said he took responsibility because he was the only one home. 15 App. 1543. Cole was arrested, and a blood sample was taken, eventually revealing his blood alcohol content to be 0.101. 3 App. 750; 8 App. 955.

The Nye County Sheriff's Office then obtained a search warrant for the house and searched high and low for anything that could have been used to cause any of the injuries to Yessenia. 13 App. 1426. They photographed and impounded pint glasses, cups, wine bottles, hairbrushes, and various other items. 14 App. 1458. The house, however, was not in disarray. 13 App. 1429. There was no damage to the walls, showers, or any other furniture. 13 App. 1430. Nothing in the house seemed out of place from where it would normally be. *Id*.

Beginning at about 5:36am on July 16, 2017, Cole was again interviewed, this time by Detectives Alex Cox, Wes Fancher, and Logan Gibbs. 13 App. 1409. Cole maintained that he blacked out from drinking and did not remember anything, but the Detectives continued to poke and prod him in their attempts to induce a confession. 14 App. 1492. Cole said he recalled Yessenia falling out of a camping chair shortly after Victoria and Nickole left, and fighting with her in the shower, as she did not like showers and would attempt to run out. 14 App. 1479, 1493. Cole could only speculate as to how she received the injuries, but still took responsibility because he was the only one home with her. 14 App. 1490, 13 App. 1429. Later that evening, just after 7:00pm, now Captain David Boruchowitz again interviewed Cole and attempted to get a confession. 19 App. 1907. He even went so far as to bring Victoria in the room to confront Cole. 19 App. 1915.

After an eight-day jury trial, ripe with Defense objections and potential Constitutional issues, the jury convicted Cole of the sole count of first degree murder. 21 App. 2116. At sentencing, the District Court heard from all of Yessenia's immediate family, in addition to some of her extended family, over Defense's objection. 21 App. 2118, 22 Spp. 2133. The District Court then sentenced Cole to life in prison without the possibility of parole. 22 App. 2175.

VI. <u>SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT</u>

Cole's constitutional rights were violated throughout this case. His right to a fair trial, due process, and a fair and impartial jury was violated by the District Court's denial of his motions to suppress his statements and disqualify the Nye County District Attorney's Office. His right to have every element of the charges against him proven beyond a reasonable doubt was violated by the lack of sufficient evidence to support the first degree murder charge. He was prejudiced by the District Court's abuse of discretion in admitting prior bad acts, autopsy photographs, jail phone calls, and the deposition of Christopher Pullen. Cole's constitutional rights were further violated when the District Court considered impermissible testimony and evidence at the time of sentencing and ordered that Cole serve life in prison without the possibility of parole in violation of the Eighth Amendment. While any one of these issues would warrant reversal, the cumulative effect of these errors also necessitates reversal.

VII. <u>ARGUMENT</u>

A. The District Court Committed Manifest Error When It Allowed Evidence of Mr. Engelson's Prior Bad Acts to be Presented to the Jury

The district court committed manifest error when it permitted the State to introduce two incidents of prior bad acts: (1) evidence of a prior injury to Yessenia's chin sustained when Cole was babysitting her, and (2) a prior statement made by Cole to Yessenia's mother, Victoria, referencing a time when he spanked Yessenia too hard. Neither incident was relevant to Cole's trial, and admission of these prior bad acts was unduly prejudicial.

NRS 48.045(2) states that:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show that the person acted in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

"A district court's decision to admit or exclude evidence of prior bad acts rests within its sound discretion and will not be reversed by appellate courts on appeal absent manifest error." Chavez v. State, 125 Nev. 328, 345, 213 P.3d 476, 488 (2009) (quoting Somee v. State, 124 Nev 434, 446, 187 P.3d 152, 160 (2008)). There is a presumption of inadmissibility that attaches to all prior bad act evidence. *Ledbetter* v. State, 122 Nev. 252, 259, 129 P.3d 671, 677 (2006) (citing Rosky v. State, 121 Nev. 184, 195, 111 P.3d 690, 697 (2005)). To determine admissibility of prior bad acts, the district court must hold a hearing outside the presence of the jury and determine that: "(1) the incident is relevant to the crime charged; (2) the act is proven by clear and convincing evidence; and (3) the probative value of the evidence is not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice." Diomampo v. State, 124 Nev. 414, 430, 185 P.3d 1031, 1041 (2008) (quoting Tinch v. State, 113 Nev. 1170, 1176, 946 P.2d 1061, 1064-65 (1997)). If bad act evidence is admitted, the district court is required to provide the jury with a limiting instruction. *Chavez*, 125 Nev. at 345, 213 P.3d at 488.

In *Chavez*, during trial, one child testified that on one occasion "Chavez 'knocked' him out and slapped his other siblings because Chavez thought they were all spying on him and [the victim] while the two were in the bedroom." *Id*. The *Chavez* Court determined that the child appeared to be a credible witness and that the prior bad act testimony was relevant because it demonstrated the child's fear and reason for not disclosing the sexual abuse. *Id*. Furthermore, the district court did provide the jury with a limiting instruction on the limited use of the bad act testimony; therefore, the district court did not make a manifest error in admitting this testimony. *Id*.

In *Diomampo*, the district court allowed the State to go into a line of questioning with one of the officers which suggested that "methamphetamine users 'normally' support their habit by robbing and burglarizing people and that Diomampo "appeared to be driving while under the influence of a controlled substance." *Diomampo* 124 Nev. at 429, 185 P.3d at 1041. Diomampo, who was convicted of mid-level trafficking in a controlled substance, argued that this evidence of alleged prior bad acts was far more prejudicial than probative, especially coupled with the fact that the court did not provide the jury with a limiting instruction. *Id.* Although this case was reviewed under a plain error analysis because

Diomampo failed to object at the time, the *Diomampo* Court ultimately determined that admitting this evidence was in fact a plain error because "it permitted the jury to draw inferences about Diomampo's character and his conforming propensity to commit other crimes," nor was this testimony actually "prior bad act" testimony that was admissible under an exception of NRS 48.045(2). *Id.* at 431, 185 P.3d at1041-42.

1. Evidence of the Cut to Yessenia's Chin Should Not Have Been Introduced, as It Was More Prejudicial Than Probative and Was Irrelevant to Cole's Trial.

After briefing the issue of bad acts evidence, a *Petrocelli* Hearing was order and subsequently held on August 10 and 11, 2020. 1 App. 9-24; 1 App. 43-51; 1 App. 52-60; 3 App. 518-23; 4 App. 529-639; 5 App. 640-741. The district court made its decision on the bad acts evidence that was presented by the State. 5 App. 735-40. The State was attempting to introduce evidence of an incident where Cole was babysitting Yessenia in early April 2017, and she fell off the counter, resulting in a cut and butterfly band-aid on her chin. 4 App. 592-96; 601-02; 606. The defense objected, pointing out that the State is making the "argument for propensity and calling it something else," where the State noted that "it happened there, just like this case." 5 App. 727-28. Furthermore, the Defense objected because there was not clear and convincing evidence that this injured occurred from Cole because Yessenia herself told Victoria that it was an accident, that she "fell." *Id.* at 728. The district court allowed evidence of the chin injury to come in at trial, stating that "the similarities of the facts are sufficient for prior bad act to bring into this case. We can offset the prejudice with the jury instruction, of course." *Id.* at 737.

On the third day of Cole's jury trial, the State introduced this bad act evidence to the jury through Victoria's testimony. 10 App. 1142. Before doing so, the Court admonished the jury with the limiting jury instruction as required by Nevada law. *Id.* The State went over the incident with Victoria – that Cole was babysitting Yessenia the day she received the cut to her chin, that she thought he had been drinking that day, that he told her Yessenia had fallen off the counter – pointing out the similarities between that incident and the day Yessenia died. *Id.* at 1142-45.

Unlike *Chavez*, where the Court pointed out the relevance of the bad act testimony from the child, showing the child's fear and reason for not reporting the sexual abuse, here, the district court did not expressly demonstrate the relevance of the testimony. Here, the State failed to articulate an exception pursuant to NRS 48.045(2) as to what the purpose of this evidence was, other than to suggest, as the court noted, "[h]e was rough that time[;] [h]e's rough this time." 5 App. 737.

The district court noted that "the similarities of the facts are sufficient for prior bad act to bring into this case." *Id.* However, that is not what the district court must determine before prior bad act evidence can be admitted. The district court did not establish relevance, other than to note the similarities between the two incidents, which shows propensity, an inadmissible reason for prior bad act evidence. Although the district court noted that any prejudice could be cured with a jury instruction, the testimony and evidence presented relating to this prior bad act is so unduly prejudicial that it substantially outweighs any probative value the evidence may have, which is minimal because of the lack of relevance.

As such, the district court committed manifest error by admitting any evidence related to Yessenia' chin cut from April 2017, which requires reversal.

2. Mr. Engelson's Statement Regarding an Incident Where He Previously Spanked Yessenia Too Hard Should Not Have Been Admitted as Bad Act Evidence Because It Was Irrelevant and Unduly Prejudicial.

During the *Petrocelli* Hearing on August 10, 2020, in response to the State's questioning, Victoria Schlick testified about a previous incident where Cole informed her that he had spanked Yessenia "too hard, that he popped her a good one." 4 App. 611. Victoria stated that Cole felt bad and that he shouldn't do that again. *Id.* The district court did not make an explicit ruling on this punishment discussion, as it was not one of the specific bad acts that the State was attempting to introduce.

However, on day three of the jury trial, outside of the presence of the jury, counsel discussed with the Court this spanking incident again. 10 App. 1156-71. The State argued that the spanking incident is admissible because it could help the jury determine whether this was an accident or a homicide, relying on the fact that Cole

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