#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

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

NRS 174.175(1) also touches on the need to allow confrontation of witnesses. It provides in pertinent part as follows:

If the deposition is taken upon motion of the State, the court shall order that it be taken under such conditions as will afford to each defendant the opportunity to confront the witnesses against him or her.

The witness Christopher Pullen was unavailable to the State. He was served at the time of the deposition and gave assurances that he would appear. When COVID caused a continuance, the State obtained an oral promise to appear and a Material Witness Arrest Warrant. (10 AA 1113-15). The State also sent a subpoena to the prison where Pullen was incarcerated. (13 AA 1380-81).

The deposition took place on May 21, 2020 in Department 2 of the Pahrump District Court, with District Court Judge the Honorable Robert Lane presiding. (1 AA 61-135). The first few pages of the hearing transcript show that a District Court Judge presided, that the accused was present and represented by counsel, that the accused had the opportunity to cross-examine the witness, and that the witness testified under oath. (1 AA 61-66, 96-99). Between those conditions and the unavailability of the witness at trial, the use of the deposition was proper and more than complied with the requirements of the NRS and *Hernandez*.

Engelson's reliance on the "outside the jurisdiction of the court to compel his appearance" language of NRS 51.055(1)(d) is misplaced. Based on Engelson's logic, a witness could never be considered unavailable if there was a chance the witness might be in Nevada while avoiding a subpoena and/or court proceeding. Given that anyone of unknown whereabouts could conceivably be

in Nevada, Engelson's interpretation would cull subpoena- and hearing-dodgers from the herd of unavailables.

## G. THE STATE PRESENTED OVERWHELMING EVIDENCE THAT COLE ENGELSON COMMITTED FIRST-DEGREE MURDER WHEN HE BEAT YESSENIA CAMP TO DEATH.

In reviewing an insufficiency of the evidence claim, a court must determine whether, when viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the prosecution, any rational trier of fact could find the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. *Jackson v. Virginia*, 443 U.S. 307, 319 (1979). *Thomson v. State*, 125 Nev. 807, 816, 221 P.3d 708, 714-15 (2009); *Newson v. State*, 462 P.3d 708 (Nev. 2020). A conviction that fails to meet this standard violates a defendant's due process rights. *Mikes v. Borg*, 947 F.2d 353, 356 (9th Cir. 1991).

Yessenia Camp, age 3, suffered severe injuries all over her head and body, and died. (16 AA 1648). The day of Yessenia's death, she had been left with Engelson while her mother and sister went out. (12 AA 1308-09). A few hours later, Yessenia's brother Dwight came home. (12 AA 1282). Engelson asked Dwight to try to wake Yessenia up. Dwight went in the master bedroom. Yessenia was on the bed, unresponsive and cold to the touch. (12 AA 1284-85).

Paramedics eventually arrived and never detected any signs of life. (13 AA 1360). Yessenia was later pronounced dead. (18 AA 1848-49).

Engelson confessed multiple times to the killing, e.g., stating "I'm the one who did this" and her cause of death was "literally" his hands. (13 AA 1420). He recalled how Yessenia had fallen in the shower and "slammed" into the side of the shower. (13 AA 1417). Engelson also explained that she had fallen from having her feet go out from under her. (13 AA 1418).

By the time she was taken out of the shower, her body was limp. (9 AA 1045-46, 1050). Finally, Engelson had marks on his knuckles that were consistent with hitting a person or shower doorjamb. (13 AA 1394-95).

Applying the standards in *Jackson*, *Thomson*, and *Newton*, any rational trier of fact could and would find that the State has established the elements beyond a reasonable doubt.

It is unfortunate that Engelson offers the false assertion that "[t]here were no bruises, scrapes, or fractures on Cole's hands" that would suggest that he murdered Yessenia. (AOB 38). Detective Logan Gibbs testified that he interviewed Engelson early on the morning after the murder and observed "what appeared to be scrape marks" on two of the knuckles on Engelson's right hand. (13 AA 1393). The District Court admitted a photo with the scrapes into

2 s 3 V 4 A

evidence. (13 AA 1394). When the State asked Detective Gibbs whether the scrape marks were consistent with "throw[ing] a punch and hit[ting] something, whether that be a person or an object?" Gibbs answered, "Yes." (13 AA 1395). Asked whether the scrape marks were "consistent with hitting a door jamb," Gibbs answered, "Yes." (13 AA 1395).

H. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR AT THE SENTENCING
HEARING WHEN HE ALLOWED YESSENIA'S BROTHER DWIGHT
CAMP TO READ FROM LETTERS PURPORTEDLY PROVIDED TO
HIM BY YESSENIA'S GRANDMOTHER AND AUNT.

As a preliminary matter, Engelson's argument regarding the reading of letters relies heavily and primarily on the law and facts discussed in *Aparicio v. State*, 2020 Nev. App. Unpub. LEXIS 1006 (unpublished disposition), an unpublished Nevada Appeals Court decision. (AOB 40-45). This appears to violate NRAP 36(c)(3), which specifically provides, "unpublished dispositions issued by the Court of Appeals may not be cited in any Nevada court for any purpose." Engelson also cited the case (but not by name, just by its holding) during the sentencing hearing. (22 AA 2159).

The State finds itself in a quandary and will discuss *Aparicio* solely as necessary to respond to Engelson's brief, and respectfully requests deference from this Honorable Court.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held as follows:

The sentencing proceeding is not a second trial and the court is privileged to consider facts and circumstances which clearly would not be admissible at trial. *United States v. Cifarelli*, 401 F.2d 512, cert. denied, 393 U.S. 987 (2d Cir. 1968); *United States v. Metz*, 470 F.2d 1140, cert. denied, 411 U.S. 919 (3d Cir. 1972). So long as the record does not demonstrate prejudice resulting from consideration of information or accusations founded on facts supported only by impalpable or highly suspect evidence, this court will refrain from interfering with the sentence imposed.

Silks v. State, 92 Nev. 91, 93-94, 545 P.2d 1159, 1161 (1976).

NRS 176.015(6) provides as follows:

6. This section does not restrict the authority of the court to consider any reliable and relevant evidence at the time of sentencing.

The "reliable and relevant" clause renders moot much of the hullabaloo regarding who is or is not a victim, as defined by NRS 176.015, of Engelson's crime. NRS 176.015 discusses who is a victim but does *not prohibit* non-victims from speaking at sentencing.

1. The District Court did not err at the sentencing hearing when it allowed Yessenia's brother Dwight to read letters from Yessenia's grandmother and aunt during his testimony.

Dwight Camp, big brother of the murdered toddler Yessenia, read two letters to the District Court, one from Yessenia's grandmother, Mary Schlick, and one from Yessenia's aunt, Amber Schlick. Engelson did not object. Mary and Amber both requested the maximum sentence for the murder. (21 AA 2124-27). It is worth noting that brother Dwight, sister Nickole, and mother Victoria specifically asked for Life without Parole, the maximum available sentence, i.e. the grandmother and aunt asked for the exact same thing that the siblings and parent requested. (21 AA 2149, 2131, 2153).<sup>2</sup>

In this case, a grieving brother shared the thoughts of his grandmother and aunt on the murder of his sister. Seeing the grief of his family members is certainly part of Dwight's grief, and so their feelings are relevant. While it's theoretically possible that Dwight conspired with an unknown party to read a false statement into the record that sounded exactly like what a grandmother and aunt would say, it seems quite unlikely. Clearly, Dwight's testimony and his allusions to other relatives were reliable. Hence, the District Court did not err

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> By contrast to the two letters (from grandmother and aunt) that Dwight referenced, the *Aparicio* case that Engelson unfortunately relied upon involved approximately 45-50 letters, including letters from friends, colleagues, and former colleagues. (AOB 40-41).

and if this Court finds otherwise, no prejudice arose from the addition of the grandmotherly and auntly opinions on sentencing that were identical to those of sister, mother, and brother.

2. The District Court properly allowed Ryan Monroe, the brother of Yessenia's now deceased father, to testify regarding the father's reaction to Yessenia's death and thoughts about Engelson's potential punishment.

Ryan Monroe is an uncle of the victim Yessenia and brother of Yessenia's late father, who passed away one year after Yessenia's death. Ryan was at least in part trying to stand in for Yessenia's father. (22 AA 2157-58). The State and defense counsel conferred regarding whether Ryan could testify. (22 AA 2156-59). Defense counsel conceded that he had found no authority precluding the District Court from exercising its discretion to allow Ryan to testify. (22 AA 2159).

Ultimately, the District Court did exercise its discretion under 176.015(6) to allow the testimony, concluding that it would be reasonably reliable. The District Court stated that it might not normally allow Ryan to testify, but would allow Ryan to speak so that the feelings of Yessenia's late father might be heard.

Ryan stated that Yancey Camp, his brother and Yessenia's father, died in 2018 but lived with Ryan at the time of Yessenia's murder. Ryan was confident

that he could articulate the impact of Yessenia's death on her father. (22 AA 2162). He recounted the father's "wailing in anguish" and did drift into some of his own thoughts and feelings. (22 AA 2162-63).

Regarding sentencing, Ryan confirmed that his recommendation for Life without Parole was actually that of Yessenia's father. He repeated the request for Life without Parole on behalf of Yessenia's father and himself, and again veers into some of his own thoughts and feelings. (22 AA 2163-64).

Engelson argues, again citing *Aparicio*, that Ryan was not a victim and that his testimony was neither relevant nor reliable. (AOB 45-46). While Ryan might not fit the definition of victim in NRS 176.015, the District Court correctly exercised its discretion to allow him to testify. Allowing Ryan to testify was the best way to add some thoughts and feelings from Yessenia's late father into the record. Like mother, sister, and brother, Yessenia's father wanted Life without Parole. (22 AA 2163-64).

Engelson also asserts that Ryan's recollections of Yancey's feelings and thoughts about a sentence were unreliable because any discussion of those issue would have occurred three to four years prior to the sentencing hearing. (AOB 46). Had Ryan been testifying regarding a conversation about what happened in the Golden Knights game the night before, Engelson might have a point. In

Ryan's case, however, he was talking about Yancey's "wails of anguish" over the murder of his little girl and discussion of the appropriate punishment for the brutal murderer of his little girl. The District Court correctly understood that memories of Yancey's reaction to losing Yessenia and his wish for Engelson's sentence tend to have more staying power than last night's hockey scores.

Ryan's testimony was relevant and reliable. Hence, there was no error. Should this Court find otherwise, it is worth noting that the Yancey/Ryan recommendation matched those of Victoria, Nickole, and Dwight and so any error would be harmless.

I. THE DISTRICT COURT ABSOLUTELY DID NOT ABUSE ITS
DISCRECTION AND PROPERLY SENTENCED ENGELSON TO
LIFE WITHOUT PAROLE FOR THE BRUTAL SLAYING OF
THREE-YEAR-OLD YESSENIA CAMP; THE COURT METED
OUT THE MOST APPROPRIATE PUNISHMENT AVAILABLE

"Despite its harshness, "[a] sentence within the statutory limits is not 'cruel and unusual punishment unless the statute fixing punishment is unconstitutional or the sentence is so unreasonably disproportionate to the offense as to shock the conscience." Additionally, we afford the district court wide discretion in its

sentencing decision." *Allred v. State*, 120 Nev. 410, 420, 92 P.3d 1246, 1253 (2004) (internal citations omitted) (overruled on other grounds).

Cole Engelson savagely and brutally murdered the toddler Yessenia Camp.

The District Court correctly identified and imposed the *most* just sentence available: life without parole.

After deliberating for about two hours, the Jury found Engelson guilty of first-degree murder for killing Yessenia Camp. (21 AA 2110). Yessenia was three-years old and suffered numerous severe injuries. Listing them consumed a full page of trial transcript. (20 AA 2001-2003). The District Judge detected "no remorse" from Engelson. (22 AA 2174)

Engelson incorrectly claims that the District Court made no findings and failed to discuss possible aggravating and mitigating factors. (AOB 47). While the District Court might not have prefaced certain remarks with, "this is an aggravator," or "this is a mitigator," or "this is a finding," the District made findings and discussed aggravating and mitigating factors.

The District Court distinguished malum in se offenses from malum prohibitum offenses and found that Engelson's crime was malum in se, i.e. a severe offense. (22 AA 2171). The District Court noted the shocking nature of the murder: "I sat through the trial too, and I was a little shocked each step of the

way." (22 AA 2172). It is worth remembering that listing Yessenia's injuries consumed an entire page of trial transcript. (20 AA 2001-03). A reasonable inference is that a shocking, severe brutalization of the toddler Yessenia struck the District Court as substantial aggravation.

The District Court also found that Engelson had shown "no remorse." (AA 2174). Early in the sentencing hearing and with his first opportunity to address the Judge regarding sentencing, Engelson opted to go "all in" with his remorselessness strategy: "Before I get started, I do have a quick question of the Court. Since I believe wholeheartedly that as soon as the Supremes get ahold of my direct appeal, this is coming back for another round, can anything I say be used against me in another trial?" (22 AA 2141).

The District Court seemed unimpressed and ultimately summarized, "[W]hat's the emotion you show when you find out you beat a three-year-old to death? Still waiting to see it. I thought maybe it would be today. Still no normal reaction that all the rest of us would if we were in that boat. No remorse...." (22 AA 2173-74).

The District Court also elaborated on its general approach to sentencing in a case such as this: "[I]f you've never done a crime in your life, but the crime you

do is so malum in se, you're probably going to get hammered. And obviously that's this case." (22 AA 2172).

Engelson's counsel raised alcohol abuse as a possible mitigator: "[T]hat demon that is in the bottle, that alcohol is the underlying reason for all of this, Your Honor." (22 AA 2138). The District Court heard the defense assertion and later stated as follows: "[T]he defense can't be alcohol. Alcohol is no defense." (22 AA 2172). The District Court also rejected memory lapse as any kind of defense. (22 AA 2173).

Clearly, the District Court carefully evaluated this case and Engelson. The District Court considered the horrifying facts, the relatively flimsy alleged mitigators, and Engelson's lack of remorse.

Based on all of that, the District Court imposed a sentence of life without parole, a just sentence and one that is <u>not</u> disproportionately harsh in light of the utter and final destruction Engelson imposed on Yessenia. Thus, the sentence must stand.

///

///

## J. ENGELSON'S CUMULATIVE ERROR ARGUMENT IS WITHOUT MERIT.

For the reasons elucidated in Parts A-I, above, Engelson has incorrectly alleged errors and there is no basis for a cumulative error argument. Assuming arguendo that error(s) occurred, such error(s) would have been harmless and definitely not sufficient to justify reversal based on cumulative error.

Nevada law provides that "the cumulative effect of errors may violate a defendant's constitutional right to a fair trial even though the errors are harmless individually." *Butler v. State*, 120 Nev. 879, 900, 102 P.3d 71, 85 (2004) (overruled in part on other grounds in *Lisle v. State*, 131 Nev. 356, 366, 351 P.3d 725, 732 (2015). "If the cumulative effect of errors committed at trial denies the appellant his right to a fair trial, this court will reverse the conviction." *DeChant v. State*, 166 Nev. 918, 927, 10 P.3d 108, 113 (2000).

"Relevant factors to consider in deciding whether the error is harmless or prejudicial include whether the issue of innocence or guilt is close, the quantity and character of the error, and the gravity of the crime charged." *Id.*

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